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SECRETARIAL NOTES
T h e  f o l l o w i n g  Lectures and Visits were arranged during 1965:—

February 25th Projection of slides of Old Leatherhead, by J. G. W. Lewarne.
March 26th Annual General Meeting.
April 29th Lecture: “Viking People in Britain” , by C. W. Phillips, O.B.E.
May 29th Visit to Ashtead Park.
June 12th Visit to Leatherhead Parish Church. Described by F. B. Benger.
July 24th Visit to  Guildford Grammar School.
August 21st Walk over line of City Posts, Tadworth to Mogador.
September 18th Visit to Sutton Place, Guildford.
October 14th Lecture: “ Stages in the Historic Development of Sutton” , by R. P. Smith.
November 25th Lecture: “Newest Methods used in Archaeology” , by A. T. Clark.
December 16th Lecture: “Local Flora, with particular reference to rare species”, by K. Mor- 

ford, C.B.E.

No. 8 of Volume 2 of the Proceedings was issued during the year.

NINETEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Held at the Council Offices on Friday, 26th March, 1965

•THE REPORT of the Executive Committee and the Accounts for the year 1964 were adopted and 
approved. Officers of the Society were elected as shown below.

OFFICERS FOR THE YEAR 1965
President: C a p t .  A. W. G. LOWTHER, F.S.A., A.R.I.B.A.
Chairman: A. T. RUBY, M.B.E.
Hon. Secretary: J. G. W. LEWARNE

(69 Cobham Road, Fetcham, Leatherhead, Surrey. Tel. Leatherhead 3736)
Hon. Treasurer: W. T. BRISTOW

(Lloyds Bank, Leatherhead, Surrey)
Hon. Programme Secretary: Mr s . B. HAYNES

(Sans Nom, Fir Tree Road, Leatherhead. Tel. Leatherhead 3549)

Committee Members: F. B. BENGER, S. E. D. FORTESCUE
Hon. Librarian: T. C. WILLIAMS, The Mansion, Church Street, Leatherhead
Hon. Editor o f the Proceedings: F. B. BENGER

(Duntisbourne, Reigate Road, Leatherhead. Tel. Leatherhead 2711)
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OCCASIONAL NOTES
ROBERT CHESEMAN, b. 1485 d. 1547

I N  1836, W illiam  C o tto n  o f T he Priory, Leatherhead, had  p rin ted  twenty-five copies of 
A D escriptive Catalogue o f  some Pictures Books and Prints etc. collected by Charles 

Rogers, F .R .S ., F .A .S ., and now in the possession o f  William Cotton, M .A ., F .A .S . This is 
prefaced first by a  perfectly accurate account o f the history o f the Priory site from  1750 
until C o tto n ’s acquisition  o f it and  enlargem ent o f the house in gothic style; but there

Reproduced by permission o f  the Mauritshuis Foundation, The Hague, Holland
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follows w hat appears to  be an entirely fictitious account o f a Cistercian priory which is 
stated to  have existed on the site during the M iddle Ages, and this is a ttribu ted  to  Rev. 
James Dallaway. It takes the form of a letter to the secretary o f the A ntiquaries Society 
in London dated 1824. This piece has always been an  enigma. The late H . E. M alden 
(editor o f the Victoria County H istory o f  Surrey) stated quite categorically th a t D allaw ay 
did not write i t ;1 m oreover at least one o f its references is so obviously inaccurate th a t it 
is difficult to believe tha t an antiquary  o f D allaw ay’s standing would have perpetrated  it 
even in jest.2 It seems just possible tha t it is a good-natured jeu  d ’esprit by William C otton 
(himself an antiquary) poking gentle fun a t D allaw ay’s enthusiasm s, though if this is so, 
to publish it after D allaway’s death was hardly in the best taste. But a t the end o f this 
curious concoction the final paragraph com m ences:—

“ I now return to  the topography. A t the time o f the Dissolution (1545) the site of 
this Priory was granted to Thom as Chessm an, or Cheeseman, Esq., one o f the Y eom an 
Falconers to  King H enry V III, by whom the M ansion-house in Letherhead was 
originally built.”
This reference to Cheseman, with (it should be noted) an incorrect C hristian name, 

was not repeated by C otton  in his usually reliable historical notes appended to Miss 
Drinkwater-Bethune’s poem The River M ole  published in 1839, and, on account o f the 
context o f its first appearance, it m ight well be dismissed bu t fo r the fact th a t in Brayley’s 
History o f  Surrey,3 1850, is the following definite statem ent:—

“ The M ansion is supposed to  have been originally built in the reign o f H enry VII, 
the chantry chapel annexed to it, on the north side o f the church, being o f th a t age. 
In the next reign, it was held by R obert Cheseman, esq., who m arried Alice D acres 
. . . and dying in 1547, was buried in the chapel o f N orw ood, where there is a m ural 
monum ent exhibiting his arm s, but w ithout inscription.”
Now this statem ent is m ade in spite o f the fact th a t Brayley was well aw are th a t the 

account o f the Cistercian priory was a  fictitious one4 and it should be noted tha t the correct 
Christian name is given to  Cheseman and tha t his surnam e is spelt as it is shown on the 
portrait o f him by H ans H olbein the Y ounger which we reproduce here by perm ission o f 
the directorate o f the M auritshuis a t The Hague.

It does therefore seem probable that Brayley was aw are o f som e p ro o f o f a  connection 
between Cheseman and The M ansion, possibly a deed o f some sort which was know n also 
to  whoever wrote the “ 1824” letter printed in C o tton ’s book o f 1836; and the fact tha t 
Brayley went to  some trouble to exactly identify Cheseman and his associations seems 
confirmation o f his belief in Chesem an’s connection in some way with The M ansion. This 
point could be finally resolved only by reference to  Brayley’s working m aterial, which, 
as far as I am aware, no longer exists.

Before passing to a  consideration o f Cheseman himself and what is know n o f him, 
it is worth noting tha t whoever wrote the “ 1824” letter was aw are tha t Cheseman was a 
falconer. This fact is not recorded elsewhere as far as I can determ ine, but it is borne out 
by H olbein’s portrait depicting him with a hooded falcon a t his wrist.

Robert Cheseman was the son o f Edward Cheseman, Cofferer to Kings Henry VII 
and VIII, by his wife Joan Lawrence. His father’s place o f residence, which later became 
his own, was a house known as D orm an’s Well in the m anor o f Southall, M iddlesex, which 
still existed (as a farmhouse) as late as 1876.5 The Chesemans were lords o f the m anors 
of Southall and N orw ood, M iddlesex,6 and R obert is buried in the church a t N orw ood, 
where his tom b still exists, bearing his arm s, on the north  side o f the chancel. He 
married (as recorded by Brayley) Alice Dacres, daughter o f H enry D acres o f F leet Street, 
merchant tailor, and sister o f R obert D acres, a M aster o f Request. Chesem an was on the 
commission o f the peace for M iddlesex7 and, quite apart from the fact tha t his family was 
armigerous, as a m agistrate he was entitled to the quality o f esquire which is given him
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Middlesex Pedigrees—collected by Richard Mundy in Harl. MS. No. 1551 
[Harl. Soc. Pub. Vol. LXV, p. 47]

CHEESMAN OF DORMANS WELL

Cheesman, had 3 sonns =

Edward Cheeseman 
of Dormans Well in 

com. Midlesex, 
Cofferer to H.7 and 

H  8  

[will pr* 1510]

Jone, d. o f . . . 
Lawrence of. 

com. Lanck 
renupt. . . .  
Banester

John Cheesman =  
of Lewsam, Kent

[a daughter, no sons]

Robert Cheesman =  
of Lewsam, Kent 
[will pr. 1498]

[a daughter, no sons]

Robert Cheesman 
[born 1485 
died 1547. 

will pr. 1548]

[(1) Eleanor ?Tawe] Ellener
[(2)] Allice d. of Henery Dacres [m........]
[of Mayfield, Staffs, and] 
of Fleet Street in London 
Marchantalor sister of 
Robert Dacres Mr of 
Request. [Her will pr. 1558]

Elizabeth u x . . . .  
Carmino servant 

to H.8 
i

Mary
[ m . . .

Grace ux. a 
Keeper in 
Windsor Forest

Elizabeth 
was first a Nun 
at Hollywell 
and after at 
Keelborne

Ellenor [or Anne] d. and heire 
ux. Francis Chamberlyn 

of Sherborne in Com. Oxon. 
[Vide Oxon.]

i
A

Visit. Oxon. [Harl. Soc. Pub. Vol. 5, p. 236]
Franciscus Chamberlaine=Ann, filia and haeres 
locumeen. de Woodstock Roberti Chesman 
et insula Garnsey de Dormandswell

in com. Midd. arm.



both in the “ 1824” letter printed in 1836 and by Brayley in 1850. As will be seen from 
the pedigree, not only was R obert’s father a court official but two o f his sisters m arried 
servants o f the royal household. Thus, though there seems no actual record surviving to  
show that he was himself a royal servant, it seems very probable tha t he was one. Indeed, 
the fact that his portrait and that of Thom as Cromwell painted in the following year, 
1534, are thought to have led to H olbein’s appointm ent as pain ter to  the King8 is a 
further indication o f a connection with the C ourt. In 1531 R obert Chesem an bought a 
m anor in G reenford, M iddlesex,9 which he sold in 1534 to John  Smith, a  L ondon baker; 
in 1534 Syon Abbey leased the estate o f Osterley to him 10; and in 1537 the T rinitarian 
friary o f Hounslow leased all its lands to him for 99 years.11 The second and th ird  of 
these transactions are significant to us, because, as M r. F rank  Bastian has pointed  out, 
in the closing years o f the monasteries, when the writing was on the wall, a quite extensive 
practice grew up of leasing monastic p roperty  at uneconom ic annual rents but with sub­
stantial entrance fines which never found their way into the monastic com m on purse.

Robert Chesem an’s will is a lengthy docum ent. In it he refers to  his house o f D orm ans- 
well and to property at Kentish town, but makes no reference to Leatherhead or any Surrey 
property. His widow’s will is confined to household effects, jewellery, etc.

It therefore seems likely tha t if he did have tenure o f The M ansion o f some sort for 
a time it may well have been one o f the under-the-counter transactions referred to above, 
for The M ansion was the local centre o f the m anor o f M inchin in Leatherhead, which 
until the Dissolution o f 1536 belonged to the Benedictine nunnery o f K ilburn ,12 and it 
may well have been some lease o f M inchin which Dallaway or C otton and Brayley had 
seen. The possibility is strengthened by the intriguing fact th a t R obert C hesem an’s sister 
Elizabeth was a nun o f K ilburn. In his will he left an annuity to “ my sister Elizabeth 
formerly a N une” .

There is one further fact to add. In the south aisle o f Leatherhead C hurch there is 
a  charm ing marble memorial upon the wall to the m em ory o f Dame Elizabeth E aton, 
widow of Sir Peter Eaton Knight and Citizen o f London, who is buried nearby. There 
seems to be some confusion as to the date o f her death. Her burial is recorded in the 
parish register, 14th October, 1730, the Gentleman's Magazine records her death as on 29th 
September, 1733, and M anning & Bray give the date as 30th Septem ber, 1736.13 W ithin 
a  cartouche her arm s are displayed upon a lozenge im paled with those o f her husband. 
Her arms, on the sinister side, are Per chevron crenelle, Argent and Sable, three mullets 
pierced counterchanged. The Surrey historians M anning and Bray recorded these arm s 
in 1809 as those o f Cheseman. The Chesem an arm s on the tom b in N orw ood church, 
Middlesex, are recorded by Brayley (IV, p. 435, note 18) as Per chevron, embattled, Arg. 
and Sab. three mullets, pierced, counterchanged. It is clear that Lady Eaton was born a 
Miss Cheseman, c. 1650 (she died at the age o f 80), and tha t she came o f the same family 
as Robert Cheseman. Dallaway noted the m onum ent and arm s in a note book which he 
used in 180714 and identified the arm s as those o f Cheseman. How and why did this lady, 
who seems to have had little connection with Leatherhead, come to  be buried here? Was 
it because there lingered in her family some mem ory o f its form er connection with the 
place? The quest for local history so often leads to  unfulfilled questions yet exciting 
possibilities.

Since writing the above, M r. B. J. T. H anson o f Southall Local H istory Society has 
kindly sent me the following additional notes:—

There is no evidence that Edward Cheseman [R obert’s father] was buried at N orw ood 
and, indeed, he left instructions in his Will tha t “ myn bodie to be buryed in the Church of 
the Freres Prechers called the Black Friars next Ludgate in L ondon” . However, he left 
further instructions that his son, R obert, was to pay a priest to sing M ass for his soul in 
Norwood Church.
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In his Will, R obert left instructions tha t “ my bodie to be buryed in the Parish Church 
o f N orw ood aforesayd before the picture o f O ur Lady there as myn tom b is new m ade.” 
It would therefore seem th a t R obert built the a ltar tom b during his lifetime.

The Lords o f the M anors o f N orw ood and Southall were the A rchbishops of C anter­
bury from 830 A .D. until C ranm er exchanged the M anors for lands in Kent with Henry VIII 
in 1543. Edward Cheseman was therefore an under-Lord o f the A rchbishop although for 
all practical purposes he was Lord o f the M anors. After the exchange Henry immediately 
sold both M anors to R obert Cheseman who thus became the first resident lord living at 
Dormanswell.

This year the Borough o f Southall, before its incorporation in the London Borough 
o f Ealing, published a short history o f the Borough by its Reference L ibrarian, Paul Kirwan 
M.A., F .L.A . On page 16 Mr. K irwan states “ Both he [Robert] and his father had served 
two successive kings in various capacities; on 31st December, 1539, for example, he was 
one o f the 120 esquires sent to  m eet Anne o f Cleves on her arrival from D usseldorf to 
m arry H enry VIII. Chesem an was also concerned with the trials o f Queen K atherine 
H ow ard and C ardinal Wolsey. W ith his brother-in-law , John Tawe, he was often appointed 
to  serve on royal comm issions and act as justice for the county.

R obert C hesem an’s first wife, E leanor, had died childless. His second was Alice, 
the daughter of H enry Dacres o f Mayfield, Staffs., and m erchant-tailor o f London. She 
survived until 1558. They had a  daughter, Anne, who before the death o f her father and 
while still very young was m arried to  Francis C ham berlayne.”

I m ust express my indebtedness to Mr. F rank Bastian who provided me with the 
pedigree o f the Chesem an family, and investigated the Cheseman wills at Somerset House. 
I should also like to thank M r. Frederick Onslow for having visited the N orwood church 
o f St. M ary to establish th a t the Cheseman tom b still exists, though bearing an incorrectly 
dated m odern inscription. F. b . b e n g e r .

NOTES
1. In a letter to  Rev. T. H. Hobson, Vicar o f Leatherhead, in Leatherhead Church Chest.
2. E .G ., the decision o f a church dispute in 1454 by William Edington, Bishop of Winchester, entered 

in his Register. Edington died in 1366.
3. Brayley. IV, p. 435.
4. Brayley. IV, p. 437, note 21.
5. Thorne (James), F.S.A., Handbook to the Environs o f  London. 1876. Vol. II, p. 559.
6. Ibid.
7. Calendar o f State Papers. Henry VIII.
8. Hans Holbein the Younger. Foreword by S. Lane. Portfolios o f  Great Masters. 1926.
9. Middlesex Record Office. Acc. 473/4 (V.C.H. Middlesex III. 210).

10. V.C.H. Middlesex III, p. 109.
11. V.C.H. Middlesex III, p. 106.
12. Proceedings of this Society, Vol. 1 No. 7, p. 7.
13. M anning & Bray. Surrey, II, p. 678.
14. Miscellaneous Collections fo r  an Account o f  the Parish o f  Leatherhead. 1807. [M anuscript notebook.] 

G uildford Muniment Room  52/7/4.
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A CARTOGRAPHICAL SURVEY OF THE AREA

X. THE FETCHAM PARISH TITHE MAP OF 1791

By J. G. W. LEW A R N E

HTHE FETCH AM  PA RISH  T IT H E  M A P o f 1791 was surveyed by D. M um ford and 
is described as “ A Plan o f the Parish o f Fetcham  in the C ounty o f Surry, the A dvowson 

and small tythes o f which were purchased by R obert Sherson M .D ., taken 1791.” Accom­
panying the map is a Terrier contained in a parchm ent bound book. The estate, described 
as “A most desirable Freehold Estate and part Copyhold together with the Perpetual 
Advowson o f the Rectory” , was sold by M r. Christie at his G reat R oom  in Pall Mall 
on Thursday, 29th May, 1788. The estate, which included a small parcel o f land in 
Leatherhead, was purchased by Thom as Hankey, a banker o f Battersea, for £29,310.1 
The Advowson is stated to have been sold to M rs. Ann K irkpatrick2 by Sir G eorge W arren, 
but on the evidence o f the 1791 m ap it appears tha t Sir G eorge actually sold it to R obert 
Sherson. The latter was an em inent mem ber o f the medical profession and is notable 
for having five wives, four o f whom he buried and the fifth survived him. The R ector in 
1791 was Rev. John C. Knowles who was presented by Sir G eorge W arren in 17723 and 
Robert Sherson presented his son Rev. A braham  Sherson in 1794. The T ithe M ap is 
drawn to a  scale of approxim ately 25 inches to  the mile, and each o f the 385 land divisions 
is num bered corresponding to  the entry in the T errier which provides details o f area and 
usage. The inform ation provided gives some picture o f the form  o f the M anorial Land 
System and also im portan t da ta  on the parish a t the close o f the 18th century. It will be 
observed on the m ap tha t the East and West Fields are shown and rem ains o f field strips 
are evident. Further there are some small traces o f w hat might have been the N orth  Field 
in parcels 150, 250, and 290a in N u tt Croft. Fetcham C om m on and Downs are also 
shown. In the Terrier parcels 114 and 128 to 134 inclusive are described as “ in  Fetcham  
Comm on M eadow ” , and in the terrier to the 1777 m ap, which was the subject o f an  article 
by A. T. R uby,4 the whole o f C alf H ouse M eadow was noted as in the C om m on M eadow. 
The probability is tha t it em braced m ost o f the fields adjacent to  the River M ole. Thus 
is provided a fairly complete anatom y o f the M anorial System in Fetcham , the East, 
West, and N orth  Fields, the C om m on M eadow, the C om m on and Downs, the Fields and 
M eadow having been the subject o f early enclosure. In 1811 the C om m on and Downs 
were enclosed.6 In 1791 Thom as H ankey’s M ansion, G arden, Pleasure G round  and Park, 
together with the M atterdons com prised 134 acres.

Details o f the other principal holdings were:—
Farm and Tenant Total Acreage Arable Meadow Pasture Wood Other

H ome

M . R ic h m o n d 308 254 34 3 12 5
C a n n o n  

J. Stiles 266 148 72 7 1 38
F a r t h e r  G t .

L a te  L d . T y rc o n n e l 124 108 _ 13 3
M o n k s  G r ee n  

W illrn. M ills 85 65 16 1 3
M il l  

H . E llis 52 21 16 15f
S ly f ie l d  E sta te  

Sto c k le y 126 66 42 8 10
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Farm and Tenant Total Acreage Arable Meadow Pasture Wood Other
S l y f ie l d

Bray 71 56 15
R o y d o n  =  

W aterer 26 24 _ _ 1 1
------- --- — — — _

Total 1,058 742 195 19 37 65
N otes: f  includes Mill Pond 7 acres

=  later known as Kennel Farm
Figures indicate acres to the nearest whole number

The Glebe Land to talled  30 acres o f which M artin  R ichm ond rented 13 acres (3 meadow, 
10 arable), John Mills 10 acres (all arable), and M r. Stiles 1 acre (arable), the balance being 
incorporated with the Parsonage.

The following tenants, etc., are listed in the T errier:—
Parcels

1 -  3 Thom as H ankey, Esq.
4 - 6 Rev. M r. Knowles (Rector)
7 &8 M rs. D onald

9 Francis Cox. (Later the first Fetcham  Post Office)
10 & 11 H. Dumbrell

12 B. Johnson and  G. Lee
13 & 14 Miles D enby. (The Bell Publick House)

15 W illiam G oreing
16 Kitchersides and  Sawyer
17 W aker
18 Clements. (The Salt Box)
19 Bristow W ebb. (Smiths Shop)

2 0 - 8 8 M artin  Richm ond. (H om e Farm )
89 -  124 William Mills. (M onks G reen Farm )

125 -  193 Jam es Stiles. (C annon Farm )
1 9 4 -2 1 0 late L ord  Tyrconnel. (F arther G reat Farm ) 

Parcels 204-210 are in M ickleham  Parish
211 -  228 Henry Ellis. (M ill Farm )
229 -  233 R obert Sherson, M .D .
234 & 235 Nettlefold

236 B. Castledine
237 -  253 Glebe (various occupants)
254 -  260 Fetcham  P oor (various occupants)
261 -  270 Epsom  Poor (various occupants)
271 -  290b W alker
291 -  309 N ettlefold
3 1 0 -3 1 8 W aterer (W. Mills tenant)
319 -  322 M artin  R ichm ond
323 -  326 W ade
327 & 328 late Lord Tyrconnel
329 & 330 Adm iral Sir Francis Geary, Bart.
331 -  342 Bray P art o f Slyfield Estate
343 -  360 Stockley P art o f Slyfield Estate
361 & 362 G olding
363 -  371 W aterer R oydon Farm
372 -  374 Fetcham  P oo r Includes the Almshouse
375 -  379a Earl o f Effingham
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Parcels
3794 Mrs. C ooper Rising Sun Alehouse
380“ Daniel Burgess
381 The Roaring House (in Bookham  Parish)
382 Robinson
383 Shiring The Cock Alehouse

License was suppressed 18116
384 Fetcham  Com m on
385 C om m on Downs

The following were Copyhold: 271-274, 289, 290-309, and  328. All the rem ainder 
were Freehold.

The distribution o f the three farms, Home, M onks G reen, and C annon is shown in 
Figure 1.

Figure 2 shows the land usage o f the Parish as far as can be ascertained from  the Terrier. 
Dwellings o f all kinds listed total 40, and it is interesting to  note th a t in 1801 there 

were 50 inhabited houses and two uninhabited with a population  o f 271 (male 128, female 
143).7 One interesting omission is the windmill shown in the 1777 m ap o f Fetcham  P ark .8 
In the Account Book o f H anscom be and Fothergille who carried ou t repairs and a ltera­
tions at Fetcham  Park in 1788 to 1790 the repair o f a door o f the windmill is m entioned.9 
In 1804 M rs. H ankey is stated to  be owner and  occupier o f the M ansion H ouse and 
Windmill. These last two pieces o f evidence confirm th a t the w indmill was in existence 
at the time the survey was made.

Two further points may be thought w orthy o f m ention. Firstly, there were three 
M anors in Fetcham .10 One o f these M anors, th a t known as the Bishop’s M anor, had 
been held in the C onfessor’s time by Biga. G reat Bickney is m entioned in  161411 and 
Bigney Lane ran in a northerly direction from  Simons G reen.12 Parcel 342 M arks Field 
is alternatively named in the Terrier as Bigneys and this may give a clue to the site o f a 
m anor house. N o trace can be observed on the surface to-day.

Secondly, M r. Stockley was tenant o f parcels 345 and 346 (Mill H are M eadow). The 
latter may have been the site o f an early mill, parcel 345 providing facilities for clearing 
obstacles and debris from the mill stream.

A detailed exam ination of this m ap is m ost rew arding bu t in picturing Fetcham  as 
it was in 1791 it m ust be pointed out that it does not include stream s and many o f the 
ponds which were w ithout doubt existing at tha t time. Amongst the latter, ponds were 
located in the N otts (8) and in Fetcham  Park. W ith the dem ands for more and more 
water the table has been lowered and most have now disappeared.

The courtesy o f the Rector o f Fetcham  in allowing the au thor access to the M ap and 
Terrier is acknowledged with thanks. W ork done by M r. S. G. N ash on this subject has 
been incorporated. The drawings o f the m aps which accom pany this contribution  have 
been prepared by M r. H. L. M eed, w ithout whose careful and skilled w ork the above 
would not have been possible.

NOTES
1. Sale Particulars 1788. Societies archives.
2. V.C.H. Surrey.
3. Ibid.
4. Proceedings of the Society, Vol. 2, No. 5.
5. Enclosure Award, Fetcham Church.
6. Vestry Minutes, Fetcham Church.
7. Census 1801.
8. Proceedings of the Society, Vol. 2, No. 5.
9. Surrey Record Office, Kingston.

10. Proceedings o f the Society, Vol. 2, No. 1, p. 19.
11. Proceedings o f the Society, Vol. 1, No. 4.
12. Proceedings o f the Society, Vol. 2, No. 4, M ap p. 103.
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THE DALTON FAMILY OF LEATHERHEAD
By F. BASTIAN

IN  HIS H ISTORY  O F L E A T H E R H E A D , published in 1821, the Rev. Jam es Dallaway 
^  refers to  the old m anor house o f T horncroft, which was replaced by the present building 
in 1766, as “ a large m anorial residence of tim ber frame, in which several generations of 
D altons passed aw ay” ; and, again, he writes of “ ancestors who had long held the m anor 
o f T horncroft and were by paten t serjeants o f the K ing’s wine cellar.” No doubt Dallaway 
relied on the m em ories o f local men who could tell him that the D altons had resided at 
T horncroft in the middle o f the eighteenth century, and on the com m em orative inscrip­
tions in Leatherhead Church and entries in the parish register which seemed to throw 
back the connection for a fu rther century. It is now clear tha t Dallaway’s quite reasonable 
inference from  this evidence was mistaken.

The following account o f the D alton family o f Leatherhead is very heavily indebted 
to  a long article, “ D alton  o f Leatherhead (1616-1821)” , by C. W. Firebrace, in Notes and 
Queries (12th Series, Vol. 12), 1923. M uch o f the genealogical detail has been taken from 
this source; bu t an attem pt has been m ade to produce a narrative rather than a  formal 
genealogical account, and it has been possible to develop the local aspects rather more fully.1

The D altons first appeared in Leatherhead in the reign o f Jam es I. W here they came 
from  is not know n, bu t they were probably a  branch o f the yeoman family of tha t name 
which was already established in the m ore southerly parts o f the county o f Surrey, the 
nam e being found in the parishes o f Ockley, Ewhurst, Abinger, and W otton.2 They seem 
to  have come to Leatherhead as the result o f the m arriage, some time before 1616, of 
R ic h a r d  D a l t o n  (1) to  Frances, daughter o f William Rogers, a yeom an o f Leatherhead, 
who had died in 1598.3 In  Lay Subsidy Assessment lists o f 1619, 1625, and 1628, D alton 
appears as a yeom an assessed at 20s. in lands, the lowest taxable assessment, and not 
enough to qualify him  to vote as a freeholder at parliam entary elections.4 But he seems 
to  have achieved a  m odest prosperity, for in 1639 we find him buying a freehold estate 
o f 15 acres from  Edw ard Skeete, and when he m ade his will shortly before his death in 
1642 he was able to leave a t least £20 to  each o f his four unm arried daughters, the money 
to  be taken  from  “ the rents and profits o f my lands and tenem ents.” 8

R ic h a r d  D a l t o n  (II), born  about 1616, is the only son m entioned in his father’s 
will. In  1641 he is m entioned as a  turnbroach  in the Kitchen o f Charles I. He presumably 
followed the court to  O xford during the Civil W ar, and apparently had risen to be Yeoman 
o f the Cellar before the final collapse o f the K ing’s cause. He m ust have m ade his peace 
w ith the victorious parliam entarians, for there is no record o f any sequestration proceedings 
and  he soon returned to live quietly as a m arried m an a t Leatherhead, where a son, Richard, 
was baptised early in 1647, and  a daughter M ary, in the following year. His signature, 
“ Ric. D alton  o f Ledered” , on a docum ent o f 1651, looks m ore consequential than  any of 
the score or so others ;6 and in the following year he and his brother-in-law, R obert Boughton, 
witnessed the will o f one o f the m ost prom inent local residents, Thom as G odm an, Esq., 
o f  Church H ouse.7 One feels that he was a man o f some local im portance, still rising in 
the world, bu t w hether in the wine trade or otherwise we do not know.

In April 1660, on the eve o f the restoration  o f Charles II, he subm itted a petition in 
which he called him self “ now yeom an o f the wine cellar” , declaring that he had contributed 
£100 to  the K ing’s cause and had “ suffered much for being active for the King in the 
Surrey business.” “ He wishes to  be serjeant of the bake-house as you have bestowed on 
M r. H ethw ait his place o f serjeant o f the wine-cellar.” Secretary N icholas had endorsed 
his note o f the petition with the word “ F ia t” ; but in fact D alton’s career was to  be in the 
Cellar after all. On 17th August, 1660, he was sworn as G entlem an and Yeoman, and 
24th O ctober o f the same year he attained his desired position as Serjeant o f the Wine

260



Cellar. His wages were £11 8j\ 1 \d . a year ( l \d .  a day) with an allowance o f £52 per annum  
for living out o f court. Even this was often in arrears: £260 lodging allowance for 1663-8 
was not paid until 1679. D alton had in August 1660 rented Samuel Pepys’s house in 
Axe-Yard, and although we do no t know how long he rem ained a  tenant, we know  that 
they drank together on several occasions. It is unlikely tha t Pepys had  any difficulty over 
his rent, for D alton certainly did not depend on his official wages. We know, for instance, 
that he held the contract to supply Spanish wines to the C ourt in 1664-5, and again from 
1670, except for the year 1674, until his death  in 1681. N o doubt he also supplied many 
of the courtiers, and in an age not noted for its sobriety this m ust have been a lucrative 
business.

D alton did not by any means lose his contacts with Leatherhead. There was a  R obert 
Dalton there from a t least as early as 1654 until his death in 1673, a small yeoman whose 
house had only two hearths and whose wife appears in the burial register as “ G oody 
D alton” . He can hardly have been a  brother, for there is no m ention o f him or o f his 
family in the will o f Richard D alton (I) in 1642 or in that o f the Serjeant o f the Wine 
Cellar in 1681; but he may have been a  m ore distant relative. Serjeant D alton  did not 
forget his two married sisters and their families— Frances, wife o f H um phrey Stacey, and 
D orothy, wife of John M ounger, both Leatherhead men. His will also mentions, in addition 
to his house and freehold lands in Leatherhead, ano ther house in the occupation o f John 
Booth and Thom as Stacey, both probably connections o f his.8 On his death on 4th O ctober, 
1681, D alton was buried in the chancel o f the parish church, where there is a  floor slab, 
and on the south wall a black m arble slab and urn with a com m em orative inscription. 
The arm s are Argent three lozenges gules each charged with a saltire o f  the field: crest A ram's 
head issuant o f  a ducal coronet.

D alton’s eldest daughter, Mary, who had been born  a t Leatherhead in 1649, was 
m arried in 1670 to Lo w d e  C o r d e l l , who in 1673 was appointed  Page o f the Bedchamber 
to Charles II. O f their seven children one, C arolina, was buried at Leatherhead in 1674, 
as was Cordell himself when he died in his 36th year in 1683. M ary rem arried, to Sir 
Henry Firebrace, but herself died in 1687 and was buried in the cloisters o f W estm inster 
Abbey. A pension o f £60 which had been allowed to her on her first husband’s death, 
was continued in the form o f pensions o f £20 to  each o f the three surviving children o f 
her first marriage.

A nother daughter of R ichard D alton, Carolina, had been baptised at Leatherhead in 
1660 and buried there in 1676. His youngest daughter, Elizabeth, baptised at Leatherhead 
in 1663, appears to have married John  W yndham, Esq. The latter m ust be the M r. W yndam 
who is named in a Q uitrental o f the M anor o f Pachenesham  and Leatherhead in 
1693 as paying 5.?. for a tenem ent and copyhold lands “ late widow Sakers” . A t a 
Court Baron o f the same m anor held on 9th O ctober, 1704, the death o f John W indham 
is presented, his holding defined in detail, and said to  be “ anciently the tenem ents o f 
Richard Saker and lately o f R ichard D alton” . In  the 1664 H earth  Tax list for Leatherhead 
“ Widow Saker” had been assessed for four hearths, and R ichard D alton did not appear: 
in 1674 there were no Sakers, but Mr. D alton was assessed for four hearths. W e cannot 
be sure that this was the same house; but the evidence a t least suggests that D alton ’s wife 
M ary may have been a Saker, through whom that fam ily’s holding passed first to  the 
Daltons and then to  W yndham. She survived her husband by nearly ten years, being 
laid beside him in Leatherhead Church on 6th April, 1691.

R ic h a r d  D a l t o n  (III), the only son, who had been baptised a t Leatherhead on 25th 
January, 1647, followed in his fa ther’s steps, becoming a Page o f the Cellar in 1670, and 
steadily rising through the various grades, including the quaintly named ones o f Y eom an 
o f the M outh (1681) and Yeoman o f the Ice and Snow (1685) until by 1689, as G entlem an 
and Yeoman o f the Cellar, he was jun io r only to  the Serjeant, receiving the same wages, 
£60 per annum, including board wages. He also took over his father’s contract for supplying
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the court with C anary and Sherry wines. He also held the position o f C om ptroller G eneral 
of the Accounts o f the Wine Licence Office during the years 1690-3 a t a  salary o f £200 
per annum. O ther means o f acquiring wealth are suggested by a com plaint m ade in 1692 
that the officers o f the Cellar were selling wine daily and m aking their cellars places for 
tippling aTid disorder. An order to  stop this was made, but we may doubt w hether it was 
effective for very long. D alton was obviously by this tim e a m an o f considerable wealth. 
Between May 1689 and April 1690 he had made eight separate loans to the Exchequer 
on the security o f parliam entary aids, tow ards the expenses o f the French W ar then ju s t 
begun, totalling in all £15,900; and  in consideration o f this he was paid  in 1690 the £208 
arrears of lodging allowance for the years 1679-84, and in the following year a further 
£104. A nother indication o f his financial standing is the appearance o f his nam e in 1696 
high am ong the list o f sponsors of C ham berlain’s Land Bank, the unsuccessful T ory rival 
o f the newly-formed Whig Bank o f England. At the end o f William I l l ’s reign in 1702 he 
was still G entlem an and Yeoman, and he never rose to  be Serjeant o f the Cellar like his 
father, for the position seems to have been abolished during Queen A nne’s reign. D alton 
continued to serve at C ourt; in 1715 we find him  being given leave to  go to  Bath, and again 
in 1717 he received a m onth’s leave on account o f his health. The w aters, o r the society, 
at Bath must have had a beneficial effect, for he lived until 24th N ovem ber, 1731, when 
he died at the age o f 84 years and 10 months.

It .is difficult to assess how close his links were with his native Leatherhead. The 
absence o f his name from  a Church Rate assessment list o f 1695, and from  the freeholders 
lists which have survived for the years from  1696 to 1708, shows tha t he cannot have been 
a resident; but he still owned some property  there, and voted as a freeholder a t the election 
of 1710. But he seems gradually to have been relinquishing this property. As well as the 
Saker copyhold, which had passed from the family by 1693, there is a  reference to C urst 
T om ’s Acre, “ being land o f Richard D alton” in 1707; bu t by 1730, “ land o f late M r. 
Dalton now Mr. Buckworth” .9 In his will m ade on 10th July, 1731, he styled him self 
“ of St. Jam es M iddlesex” and m ade no m ention o f Leatherhead; but two o f the witnesses 
were Leatherhead men, and if his request to be buried in the parish where he died was 
observed, it was to Leatherhead th a t he came to die, on 24th N ovem ber o f the same year; 
for on 27th Novem ber he was buried near his parents in the parish church.

He m arried twice. H is first wife, M argaret, sister o f N icholas Johnson, Receiver and 
Paymaster to the Army, whom he m arried in 1675, died in 1686 and was buried in the 
cloister of W estminster Abbey. There m ust have been at least six children by this m arriage, 
but the only two to survive were his daughters, Jane, who m arried Jam es Eckersall, C lerk 
o f the Kitchen, and M ary, wife o f Captain R upert Billingley, R .N . It is not know n who 
was D alton’s second wife, probably the m other o f his daughter Anne, and certainly o f 
his only surviving sonj, Richard.

R ic h a r d  D a l t o n  (IV), born in 1698, broke with the family connection with the 
Court. He m atriculated at Q ueen’s College, Oxford, in June 1714, and although he did 
not proceed to a degree he seems to have been a man o f culture who on his death was to 
leave books in French, Italian, Latin, and Greek. It was he who some years after his 
father’s death settled down to live in the old m anor house o f T horncroft at Leatherhead.
N o leases from this period have survived am ong the records o f M erton College, to  whom 
the m anor belonged, bu t it is very likely th a t he succeeded A ndrew  M eure, the tenant 
who died in 1737. He was certainly in occupation by 2nd O ctober, 1744, when as Richard 
D alton of Thornecroft he joined with Charles Wilcox o f Fetcham  in the purchase of 
houses and land in Leatherhead, formerly part o f the estate o f A rthur M oor, Esq. O ther 
legal documents and baptism al entries in the parish register establish his continued residence \  
down to 1758.10 W hen the freeholders lists resume in 1762, his name is missing; and the 
list for 1763 sees the arrival o f H enry C rab Bolton, who in 1766 was to begin rebuilding 
the house to the design o f Sir R obert Taylor, and who had Capability Brown to remodel
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the grounds. It thus seems likely th a t it was about 1762 tha t R ichard D alton left the 
“ large m anorial residence o f tim ber fram e” , apparently the one which had last been rebuilt 
in 1497; and  the D altons had not in fact lived there for “ several generations” , but for a 
quarter o f a  century at the most.

W hile D alton  had been living at T horncroft, his eldest son, William, o f the Inner 
Temple, had been killed in a  duel on 23rd May, 1751, at the age o f 25, by H oratio  Paul; 
according to  Dallaway, “ unfairly” . A  tablet to his m em ory in Leatherhead Church merely 
states th a t he was “ deprived o f life in the vigour o f health, in the flower of youth” , and 
also records the death  o f the second son, Thom as, in the same m onth at the age of 16, 
and o f the th ird  son, Charles, who died on 4th January, 1755, aged 17, and was buried 
in the church. These three were probably the children o f D alton ’s first wife, M ary, daughter 
o f G eorge W right. By the tim e th a t he came to leave T horncroft about 1762 he had raised 
another younger family—a son Henry, baptised at Leatherhead in 1746, and three daughters, 
born  to him by his wife Jane. These were all still living when he made his will in 1767, 
as o f Reigate, Surrey, leaving portions o f £4000 to each o f his daughters, and considerable 
estates in Lincolnshire to  his son H enry.11 He died in 1772, and was buried at Leatherhead 
as R ichard D alton, Esq., o f Summerhill, Berks. He had then apparently m arried for a 
th ird  time, fo r the widow who survived him and who died at H urstbourne T arran t in 
D orset in  1798 was nam ed Alicia.

H e n r y  D a l t o n , once again a solitary male heir, who had been born  a t Thorncroft 
in 1746 and who had  spent his boyhood in  Leatherhead, lived for the last fifty years of 
his life on his estates a t K naith  H all near G ainsborough in Lincolnshire; and if we can 
believe the long laudatory epitaph after his death a t K naith  in 1821, he was an exemplary 
landlord and a m an o f great erudition. W ith him this branch o f the D alton family came 
to an  end.

R ichard D alton  (III) had  had a  daughter Anne, presum ably by his second marriage, 
who had m arried Sydenham M althus o f Lincoln’s Inn Fields. Their son, Daniel M althus, 
was bo rn  in 1730, and like his uncle Richard D alton, he attended Queen’s College, Oxford, 
w ithout taking a  degree, and lived the rest o f his life quietly am ong his books on a small 
estate near D orking. H e was a m an o f ideas, believing in the perfectibility o f mankind. 
H e knew the fam ous French philosopher Jean Jacques Rousseau, and according to  one 
account was his executor after his death in 1778. He was also executor o f the will of 
R ichard D alton (IV). It thus came abou t th a t the adm inistration o f the D alton estates 
eventually passed, in 1825, to  his son, the Rev. Thom as R obert M althus, the famous 
econom ist and population  theorist. The latter had been born near D orking in 1766, and 
thus can only have know n T horncroft in his boyhood as a  place where there had formerly 
stood an old house in which his D alton cousins had lived. N or is the story of the Dalton 
family likely to  have contributed  to  his ideas on the subject o f population, except perhaps 
as an example of one in which, although for several generations there had been no lack 
o f children, providence had so arranged it that in each case there was only a single surviving 
son to  inherit the bulk o f the family property. Here was an example o f wealth accumulating 
w hen there were no t an  excessive num ber o f m ouths to  consum e it.12

NOTES

1. Unsupported statements in this article have in general been taken from this source (Notes and Queries, 
Nos. 247, 248, and 249, January 6, 13, 20, 1923).

2. See S.A .C ., IV, p. 13; X, pp. 21-2.
3. These details can be inferred from an indenture of 1650, by which Richard Dalton (11) sold a small 

property in Ewell which had descended to  him from William Stoughton of Kingston-upon-Thames, 
father of William Roger’s wife, Elizabeth. Surrey Record Office, Kingston, 22/4/17.

4. P .R.O ., E  179/186/408.. ,/4 2 8 .. ./441.
5. P.C.C., 206 Harding.
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6. S.P.(Dom.), Vol. 124, No. 27.
7. P.C.C., 140 May.
8. P.C.C., 140 North. A licence had been issued for the marriage o f Nicholas Booth, St. Saviour, Southwark, 

and Elizabeth Stacey of Leatherhead, on 16th April, 1678.
9. Leatherhead Church Vestry Book. Terriers of Lands o f Leatherhead Bridge.

10. Surrey Record Office, 13/26/89; 19/9/45; 3/93; 13/26/98.
11. P.C.C., 302 Isham.
12. T. R. Malthus married Harriet, daughter o f John Eckersall o f Claverton House, near Bath, and died 

at his father-in-law's house. The family tree suggests that she may have been his second cousin, also 
descended from Richard Dalton, Serjeant of the Wine Cellar.

JOHN WESLEY’S VISIT TO LEATHERHEAD
By F. B. B EN G ER

W EDN ESDA Y, 2 3 r d  February, 1791, John Wesley, in his 88th year and  already 
^  failing in health, journeyed to  Leatherhead. U nfortunately for us he had ceased 
to keep his great journal, because o f failing eyesight, in the previous O ctober; bu t he 
still m ade diary notes. These, partly  because they are in an abbreviated form  (alm ost 
a private shorthand) and partly because the handw riting has become alm ost illegible, are 
difficult to decipher. The entry for this day has been interpreted by his editor N ehem iah 
Curnock1 as follows:—

“ W ednesday 23
4.45 prayed, on business, read: 6.30 prayed, tea, conversed: 7 chaise, read 
Gustavas V asa; 9 with Ja[mes] Rogers; 10.30 at M r. Belson’s, [-] conversed;
12 Isai. lv. 6; 2 dinner, conversed, p rayer; 4.30 a t M r. T [-]l[-]fo rd [’s], tea, 
conversed; 6 w ithin; 8 supper, conversed; 9.30 prayed .”

In the diary notes there is no m ore than  the heading for the following day, and except 
for a  letter to William W ilberforce w ritten on 26th February, he seems no t again to  have 
put pen to paper. The letter to W ilberforce is indirectly connected w ith his Leatherhead 
visit, for it seems to have been inspired by the book which he had read on the journey, 
a  narrative o f the life o f O laudah Equiano or G ustavus Vassa, a  form er negro slave, first 
published in 1789 and reprinted in 1790.

Wesley died exactly a week later, on M arch 2nd, 1791.

One o f Wesley’s closest disciples, Elizabeth Ritchie, w rote an account o f his last 
days which was published soon after his death .2 O f the Leatherhead visit she records 
“ On W ednesday m orning M r. Rogers went w ith him  to  Leatherhead to  visit a family 
who have lately begun to receive the tru th . They had the honour o f this alm ost w orn-out 
veteran in his blessed M aster’s service, delivering his last public message beneath their 
roof. O that all that heard may take the solemn warning, and  so em brace the blessed 
invitation he gave them  from ‘Seek ye the Lord while he may be found, call upon  him 
while he is near’, as to meet our dear departed friend at G od’s right hand .”

His com panion, Jam es Rogers, recorded his own account o f the Leatherhead v isit:3 
“ Wednesday 23 he went to Leatherhead (a village about twenty miles from  London), at 
the particular request of a gentleman, who had lately buried his wife, and who, till then, 
was an entire stranger to M r. Wesley. Mr. Bradford being engaged, I accom panied him 
thither, little suspecting it to be his last journey ; but so it proved. In  less than  two hours 
after our arrival our kind host who was a m agistrate, and well beloved in the neighbour­
hood, sent his servants to invite the neighbours to hear preaching a t his house. A consider­
able num ber soon assembled, and were ordered upstairs into a spacious dining-room , set 
round with fine mahogany chairs, and covered with a beautiful carpet. The plain country
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people, who had come plodding through the mire, seemed rather out o f their elem ent; 
however, they all appeared to  hear with deep attention, while Mr. Wesley gave them a 
m ost solemn w arning from  Isaiah lv. 6, 7, ‘Seek ye’, which was the last sermon this eminent 
m inister o f Jehovah ever delivered. And it was a little extraordinary that, of his alm ost 
innum erable acquaintance, there should be none to hear it, except myself and Richard 
Summers, who drove his chaise, all the rest being entire strangers. In the afternoon we 
drank  tea w ith a clergyman, a t whose house we slept.”

The house in Leatherhead to which Wesley and Rogers had come (later known as 
K ingston House) stood upon the site now occupied by the offices o f Leatherhead Urban 
D istrict Council, and was demolished in 1934 to m ake way for them. The property is 
shown on G eorge G w ilt’s Leatherhead Survey o f 1782-83 as parcel 854 and though in the 
terrier to  th a t survey it is included as a freehold property o f “ Widow Eades” it appears 
to have been purchased from  Elizabeth Ede by Richard Belson on 27th September, 17795a, 
and a  Release dated 14th O ctober, 18185b cites it as “ formerly in the tenure or occupation of 
Elizabeth Hill afterw ards o f R ichard Belson deceased . . .  and lately o f C aptain W ychham” . 
Photographs o f the in terior o f the house50 indicate th a t it dated from  the end o f the 17th 
century or the early 18th century.

K INGSTON HOUSE, LEA TH ERH EA D

We are able to  give some particulars o f the Belson family from the table tom b which 
still exists in the parish churchyard a t Leatherhead, to  the south  of the path  passing east 
o f the chancel, and from  the parish registers. The inscriptions on the stonework o f the 
tom b are w eather-w orn and no t easily legible. U pon the flat top  is recorded tha t beneath 
are the rem ains o f M r. R ichard Belson; the date o f death is illegible bu t one may read 
that a t death  he was aged 70 years. The register states th a t he was buried 29th November, 
1805, aged 70. U pon the north  side o f the tom b is an  inscription “ In M em ory” o f H annah 
his wife, who died 28th August, 1791, aged 41 years (this inscription is noted in M anning &
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Bray’s Surrey II, p. 679). Her burial is not recorded in the register, so she is presum ably 
buried elsewhere. U pon the south side o f the tom b are inscriptions to  the m em ory o f 
Ann, daughter o f M r. R ichard Belson, died 14th(?) January, 1791, aged 27(?), and to 
another daughter Susannah, who died 4th(?) O ctober, 1805, aged 37( ?). A nn is presum ­
ably she whose burial is recorded in the register under date 19th January , 1791, aged 25; 
and Susannah is very possibly the Susanna Beeson whose burial is recorded in the register 
on 13th October, 1805, aged 35. O ther m em bers o f the Belson family recorded in the 
parish registers are John and Elizabeth Belson and their son John Louis Gask, recorded 
at the baptism o f the latter in 1796, and R obert Belson, buried 13th O ctober, 1805, aged 39.

The family mentioned by Elizabeth Ritchie may then well have been Richard Belson 
and H annah his wife, their sons R obert and John, and their surviving daughter, Susannah. 
The bereavem ent which they had lately suffered was not, as supposed by Jam es Rogers, 
from the death o f the m other o f the family, but from  that o f the eldest daughter Ann, 
who had died little m ore than a m onth before Wesley’s visit.

R oger’s statem ent tha t R ichard Belson was a  m agistrate also seems unlikely to  have 
been correct, since he is described on the family tom b as M r., a  socially correct description 
for a freeholder, whereas a m agistrate would have been entitled to  th a t o f esquire.

A part from their tom b and the parish registers little is known o f the Belson family. 
It does not appear tha t they had antecedents in the place, and the earliest reference to 
Richard Belson of which we know, apart from  the K ingston H ouse deeds, is as the holder 
o f a copyhold parcel in the Fairfield mentioned in a conveyance from Lord Tyrconnel 
to Louis M ontolieu in 1788.® In  1793 he acquired from  M erton College the copyhold of 
24/26 Church Street, Leatherhead,7 which was bequeathed on his death to  Richard W hite- 
house Jennings.

O f Leatherhead as it was in 1791 we are able to reconstruct some picture from  the 
description o f it in The Universal British Directory o f th a t date, and we can a t least m ake 
an intelligent guess a t the name and abode o f the clergyman who entertained Wesley to 
tea and at whose house he passed the night. The clergy o f the parish are there stated to 
have been the Rev. M r. D urnford, Curate, and the Rev. Samuel M arkham , Vicar. Allow­
ing for the fact that Wesley’s diary note was alm ost unreadable even to  his editor C urnock, 
and tha t Wesley’s hearing was possibly m uch affected by old age, it seems probable tha t 
it was M r. D urnford  whose hospitality they enjoyed. A ccording to the late G . H. Smith, 
in a chapter on the incum bents o f Leatherhead which will appear later as p a rt o f his history 
o f the church and advowson, Samuel M arkham  was appointed vicar in 1767, bu t also 
held another appointm ent as Evening Preacher at St. D unstan’s-in-the-W est, London, 
and was too a m inor canon o f Rochester. He appears to  have been non-resident in Leather­
head for the greater part o f his incumbency. F rom  O ctober 1771 to  1797 there were 
seventeen successive curates o f the parish. A vestry m inute o f 25th A ugust, 1771, decided 
“ that the churchw ardens should wait on Mr. M arkham  and desire to know w hether he will 
be resident in this parish, as duty has been greatly neglected, and whether he will do his 
duty on W ednesdays and Fridays according to  D r. Shortrudge’s Charity, and tha t the 
Churchwardens do m ake a report o f M r. M arkham ’s answer at the next Vestry to  be 
held for that purpose.” O ther vestry minutes in succeeding years depict the friction arising 
from  an absentee vicar and a  succession o f curates. This indeed was the Church D orm ant 
of the 18th century, the very gap which it was the object o f John Wesley and his followers 
to fill.

The 1791 Directory describes some o f the gentlem en’s houses o f the parish, am ongst 
them “ a very neat white house” which would appear to  have been Elm Bank H ouse at 
the foot o f G im crack Hill,* and which was then the p roperty  o f John  D urnford , Esq., who

*This house was ruined by a bomb in the late war and subsequently demolished.
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is also mentioned in the list o f local gentry. It seems possible tha t he was the father of 
the curate and that it was here tha t Wesley and Rogers were entertained and lodged for 
the night.

In the Directory Leatherhead is stated to have been on the road from  London to 
Brighthelm stone, G uildford, etc., a rem inder tha t until the building o f the Brighton road 
through Reigate the stage coaches from London to  Brighton ran this way. The post office 
was kept by R obert H unt, and the post went out to London, by way o f Epsom and Croydon, 
every night (except Saturday) a t ten o ’clock, and returned a t two in the m orning (except 
M onday). The letters were delivered by seven o ’clock in the morning. The Leatherhead 
coach went every day from  Leatherhead at seven o’clock in the m orning to  the Golden 
Cross, C haring Cross. The D orking coach at eight every m orning to  G racechurch Street. 
T he H orsham  coach on M ondays, W ednesdays, and  Fridays to the Borough at eleven 
o ’clock, returning Tuesdays, T hursdays and Saturdays. The G uildford coach went and 
returned the same days to  the G olden Cross. The Brighthelmstone coach passed through 
Leatherhead every day except Sunday a t two o’clock in the afternoon, and returned every 
m orning a t nine, except Sunday, to  G racechurch Street and the W hite Horse cellar. There 
were waggons, run  by Thom as W ithall, three times a week to London; and these went to 
the Q ueen’s H ead inn in the Borough every M onday, W ednesday and Friday at eight in 
the m orning and  returned the following day.

The principal inns were the Swan, kept by Elizabeth Jones, and the D uke’s Head, 
kept by T. Kershaw. The Swan is spoken o f as “ a  very genteel house with good accom­
m odations, m ost excellent stabling, and  good post-chaises w ith able horses” . The Dorking, 
G uildford, H orsham , and Brighthelm stone stage coaches stopped there.

The gentry o f the neighbourhood are listed as follows: G. Adams, Esq., Sir William 
A ltum , R ichard B aker gent., — Badcock Esq., Miss Berdew, Henry Boulton Esq. (F.) 
Lord o f  the Manor, John Butcher gent. (F.), R ichard Belson gent (F.), John Benn Esq., 
John  D urnford  Esq., J. D. Fleetwood Esq. (F.), Joseph G rim stead Esq., Mrs. A nn Jones, 
R ichard  N orm an  Esq. (F.), Joseph Price Esq., M rs. Rowley, John W oodw ard Esq. The ‘F ’ 
presum ably indicates a freeholder. It is ra ther surprising th a t the name of William Wade 
o f The M ansion does not appear in this list, m ore especially as he is mentioned later in 
the Directory article as the owner o f the C hurch House.

Two medical m en are listed, bo th  surgeons. These were C hristopher Vine and Daniel 
Wilson.

The tradespeople (listed alphabetically) may be sum marized as follows

Auctioneer, Jam es Ragge. Bakers, Elizabeth Ede, Joseph Sheppard. Blacksmiths, 
Thom as H arrison (F.), John Rowe. Breeches-.maker, R ichard Clements (F.). Brewer and 
M altster, Thom as C ooper (F.). Bricklayer, R obert Roberts. Butchers, Mrs. May, John 
Marlow, W illiam Nettlefold. Carpenters, Thom as Bartlett, Thom as Billing, George Booth, 
W illiam Lock, W illiam Lipscombe, Joseph Young. Carpenter and Builder, A braham  
Elliott (F.). Carpenter and Timber-dealer, Benjamin Simmons. Collar-maker, R obert 
Ragge. Cooper, W illiam Palm er. Draper, A lexander Jardine (also grocer). Farmers, 
W illiam Chilm an, Jam es Clare, John  Cook (F.), W illiam Ratchell, Edward Swan. Gardeners, 
Samuel G ardener, Henry Plum m er, John Plummer. Grocers, Medgley and Newland. 
Hairdressers, William Baker (F.), Ann Billinghurst. Innkeepers, Elizabeth Jones (The 
Swan), T. Kershaw (D uke’s Head). M altster, H annah Stone (F.). Miller and Waggon- 
master, Thom as W ithall. Plumber and Glazier, H enry R oberts. Sawyer, William M aybank. 
Schoolmaster, Thom as H opkins (Academy for Young Gentlem en). Shoemakers, Robert 
Brown, Jam es Brown (also Parish Clerk), John  C lark, Joseph H am sher (also grocer). 
Shopkeeper (undefined), D aniel N ettlefold (F.). Tailors, Thom as Halfacre, Thom as H ub­
bard (F .) (also draper). Tanner, Thom as Smith (F.). Victualler and Horsebreaker, John
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Johnson. Victuallers, Thom as W illiamson (Bull), M ary W ickham. Wheelers, John  Lucas 
(F.), Joseph W oodroffe (F.). Whitesmith, John Brown.

From  this we may glean the conception o f a thriving little com m unity, and it is especi­
ally interesting to note the num ber o f freeholders am ong these tradespeople. The “ plain 
country people” who gathered in Mr. Belson’s dining room  to hear Wesley were m ore 
likely to have been culled from  these tradespeople than  from  the gentry. Wesley found 
his greatest hearing am ong the lower orders o f society, and especially am ong those deprived 
by the Inclosure Acts o f the 18th century. But one may w onder w hether any very lasting 
impression was made a t Leatherhead, where no enclosures took  place until the m iddle of 
the next century and where the m ore humble folk were often either freeholders or copy­
holders.

The description of the residences o f the gentry gives us inform ation on the inhabitants 
of these houses. Randalls was the seat of David W eatherston, Esq., late o f Lewis M ontolieu, 
Esq.; Church House, the property  o f William W ade, Esq., but occupied by Joseph Price, 
Esq.; Thorncroft the seat o f H enry Boulton, Esq., having pleasing views (inter alia) o f 
Fetcham windmill; Elm Bank House the p roperty  o f John  D urnford , E sq.; Leatherhead 
Parsonage (Vale Lodge) “ lately enlarged and fitted up” by R ichard N orm an, E sq .; G ibbins 
G rove [m'c] the property  o f Henry Boulton, but occupied by Sir W illiam A ltum , Bart.

The 1791 Directory then moves further afield to  m ention Thom as H ankey’s seat at 
Fetcham  [Park], “ on which no cost has been spared” ; Juniper Hill a t M ickleham , late 
Sir Cecil Bishop’s but then the p roperty  o f M r. Jenkinson o f C haring C ross; at Bookham 
the seats o f Sir Francis G eary [Polesden], M r. Laurel [Eastwick Park], and, ra ther sur­
prisingly, N orbury  Park, the seat o f William Lock; concluding with short passages on 
Effingham and Box Hill.

John Wesley returned to London on Thursday, 24th February, paying a visit on the 
way to an old friend, M r Wolff a t Balham (which Elizabeth Ritchie, perhaps in a  lapse 
due to  scriptural zeal, spells Balaam .8 Thus ended his last journey, during which he had 
preached his last serm on at Leatherhead. In the course o f his labours he had travelled 
250,000 miles and preached on 42,400 occasions.

NOTES
1 am indebted for some of the information concerning Wesley's visit to Leatherhead to  a paper 

compiled by Mr. Frank Bastian in 1954 and deposited in the Society’s Archives (X 92); though, as Mr. 
Bastian was not apparently aware of the Belson tomb in Leatherhead churchyard he has there misconstrued 
the composition of the Belson family.

1. The Journal o f  John Wesley. Ed., Nehemiah Curnock. Standard Edition. 1909-1916. Vol. VIII, where
a facsimile of the final page of Wesley’s diary notes is to be found.

2. [Ritchie (Elizabeth)], An Authentic Narrative o f  the circumstances relative to the Departure o f  the late
Rev. John Wesley. Bristol, 1791, p. 6.

3. Journal o f  Wesley. Ed. Curnock. (Item 1 above), Vol. VIII, quoting Rogers’ Experience and Labours,
which I have not traced in a separate printed form.

4. Proceedings o f this Society, Vol. 2, No. 7, p. 206.
5. Title Deeds. Leatherhead Urban District Council Offices.

(a) Old Abstract of Title to Richardson deeds.
(b) Release 14 Oct. 1818. Margaret Blackburn and Richard Hall to William Richardson and trustee.
(c) Pamphlet, The Scene o f  Wesley's Last Sermon [1904], kept with deeds.

6. Society’s Archive W 36a .
7. Proceedings, Vol. 1, No. 10, p. 19.
8. Ritchie. (Item 2 above), p. 6.
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A HISTORY OF THE CHURCH AND ADVOWSON OF 
ST. MARY AND ST. NICHOLAS, LEATHERHEAD

By the late G. H. SM ITH  

C h a p t e r  IV

A LTER A TIO N S A N D  A D D IT IO N S O F T H E  14t h  A N D  15t h  C EN TU R IES

A T  T H E  B E G IN N IN G  o f the 14th century the Church consisted o f a nave with north
and south aisles, choir w ith north  and south chapels, and a short chancel. By the 

end of the 15th century the church, as far as the plan is concerned, was very nearly as 
we know it to-day. The w ork done in the 14th century was confined to the east end, and 
that in the 15th century mainly to the west end o f the building.

A bout the year 1320 the south  m anorial chapel was pulled down, except the short 
length o f wall before mentioned, and the present transept erected, higher than the old 
chapel, and extending on the south to  the line o f the south aisle, and opening into the 
aisle with the very pleasing arch  carried on m oulded corbels, or brackets, in order to give 
the maximum width to the opening. At this time the south wall o f the [central] tower was 
removed. The transep t was then enclosed with oak parclose screens with entrances from 
aisle and  choir.

U pon the com pletion o f the transept the chancel was taken in hand. A part of the 
south  wall was taken down, together with the east and north  walls, except a short length 
where the squint is, which was left standing, a further suggestion tha t the wooden bell 
cham ber existed over the choir which this piece o f wall was left to  support. The chancel 
was extended about 14 feet eastward in order to  provide m ore space for the ceremonial 
o f the a lta r services.

W hen the chancel was rebuilt the present beautiful piscina and sedilia were made in 
the south wall. The piscina is the canopied niche with a basin and drain formerly used 
for the cleansing o f the a ltar vessels, and  cerem onial hand-w orking before the portable 
basin was introduced. The sedilia are the three caponied recessed seats with Purbeck 
marble colum ns, for the priest, deacon, and sub-deacons or clerk, which were occupied 
during the reading o f the epistle, and the singing which took place before the gospel, and 
also when a serm on was preached.

There is on the outside o f the south wall o f the chancel near the east end, a very rough 
niche, o r recess, which has been rendered over in m ortar in m odern times. The purpose 
o f this niche has been a very great puzzle to  archaeologists, but a drawing has now been 
found am ongst the large collection o f Surrey prints and drawings at the M inet Library, 
Camberwell, which explains the m atter. This drawing, m ade between 1820 and 1830, 
shows the sedilia, and  a t the back o f the priest’s seat, which was the eastern com partm ent 
o f the three, there was a  small “ w indow” filling the upper part, fitted w ith four vertical 
iron bars and glazing. This is a very rare feature in a church, and probably the only similar 
“ w indow” know n in Surrey was in St. Giles C hurch, Camberwell, which was burned 
dow n in 1841.

In the north  wall o f the chancel is a small arched recess, which was probably used as 
an Easter Sepulchre; a cloth, or curtain , for which, is recorded in the Edwardian Inventory 
o f C hurch Goods.

The chancel being now extended, a new high a ltar was made, longer than  the old, 
and the stone mensa o f this a ltar is preserved behind the present altar. This stone appears
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to be of Sussex marble, 6 feet 9 inches long, 3 feet wide, and 4 inches thick, and is m arked 
with the usual five consecration crosses.

The altar now being further to the east, o f course, the squint in the north chapel no 
longer provided a view o f the celebrant, so another opening was m ade in the chancel wall, 
to the east o f the old, and  jo ined up to  the old opening in the chapel. The old opening 
was left open, and so it is possible to  m easure the distance the chancel was extended.

W hen the chancel was finished the north  transept was taken in hand. As before 
mentioned, a portion o f the east wall o f the chapel was retained and the rem ainder was 
cleared away and the present transept built, extending northw ards to  the line o f the north  
aisle. The addition containing the clergy vestry was built in 1873. The walls o f the transept 
are built in flint and stone chequer work, i.e., like a draughts board  with white squares o f 
Reigate stone and the black squares with knapped, or broken flints. This is one o f the 
very few examples o f this kind o f work in Surrey, and is not com parable in craftsm anship 
with the similar w ork in East Anglia.

The opening from the north  aisle to  the transept differs slightly from  th a t o f the 
south transept in tha t the arch moulding, instead o f being supported on corbels, dies into 
the wall.

In the east wall o f the transept are two brackets for images, on either side o f the 
position o f the altar. There is also an aum brey, or small cupboard, form erly used for 
keeping the altar vessels, bu t now fitted with a glass door to  hold the Leatherhead Book 
o f Remem brance o f the 1914-18 W ar. It is know n th a t there was here, as in the south 
transept, a piscina, but this has been destroyed. The transept was, o f course, enclosed 
with oak screens.

The late M r. H. E. M alden, following M anning & Bray, was very strongly o f the 
opinion tha t all the w ork on the chancel and transepts was done by Leeds Priory, after 
they had appropriated  the Rectory in 1346, and set out his view, at some length, in a paper 
on “The Rectory and Advowson o f Leatherhead C hurch and  the Advowson o f A shtead” , 
in S.A .C ., Vol. X XX VIII, p. 203. The architectural evidence is th a t the w ork was carried 
out not later than  1330. Mr. M alden claims tha t architectural dating m ust give way to 
docum entary evidence, a  claim the present w riter would not wish to  dispute, providing 
the docum entary evidence was clearly to the point, which he feels cannot be said in the 
present case. M oreover, there appears to be no instance on record o f a religious com ­
munity ever undertaking any such w ork to  a church o f which they were the rectors, unless 
they held the m anor, which Leeds did not. O f course, they, as rectors, were liable fo r the 
repairs o f the chancel, which liability did not include extending the building, and  in similar 
cases the bishops had very great difficulty in getting m onastic bodies to do the necessary 
repairs. The point is a very im portan t one, for many reasons, and will be referred to  again, 
and the appropriate docum ents quoted in detail in the chapter on the H istory o f the 
Advowson.

On the outside o f the north wall o f the chancel, near the east end, can be seen the 
stonework o f a doorway, and, a t a higher level, o f a  square opening, both now blocked up. 
These are the remains o f the doorway and shuttered opening from  the chancel to  a 
building which formerly existed here. Excavations m ade in 1906, and recorded in S.A .C ., 
Vol. XX, p. 223, show th a t the room  was 8 feet square. Early 19th century drawings 
show the doorw ay and opening much m ore clearly than  a t present, as the recesses were 
built up flush with the face o f the chancel wall in 1874.

The late M r. P. M. Johnston, who superintended the excavations, identified the 
remains as those o f an anchorite’s cell and  suggests th a t the shuttered opening was to 
enable the occupant to  watch the light burning perpetually before the Blessed Sacram ent,
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from  his raised sleeping place, and he adds, “ and doubtless he could, if the door o f com ­
m unication with the church were not blocked, enter the building by this means, and so 
m ake his C om m union, and take p a rt in the daily offices.” M r. Johnston then says, “ In 
the case o f many anchorites’ cells the recluse would seem to have been m ore strictly ‘mured 
up’ than  in others. H e never passed beyond the walls o f his narrow  cell; and at last the 
walled up door was broken through  and he was buried beneath its floor. But in other 
cases he appears to  have had liberty to  roam  the church at will, and even, as in the case 
o f the well-known Richard Rolle o f Hampole, to  have wandered abroad for long periods.”

On the o ther hand, since M r. Johnston wrote, the publication of “ The Hermits and 
A nchorites o f England” by R otha M ary Clay, in 1914, has throw n fresh light upon the 
subject. W e now know that the anchorite was strictly enclosed and tha t the ceremony 
was perform ed by the bishop or his deputy. R ichard Rolle was a herm it and not an  anchor­
ite. The existence o f dressed stonew ork to  the door opening is a  clear indication that the 
door was in frequent use, whereas, in the service used for enclosing anchorites the doorway 
was built up or firmly closed from  w ithout. Also there is no trace o f any opening in the 
chancel wail through which the inhabitant o f the cell could have received com m union; 
food, o f course, was delivered to  the anchorite through a shuttered window. It would 
therefore appear tha t the cham ber was the mediaeval sacristy or vestry, and the opening 
in the upper p a rt o f the room  indicates tha t the sacristan or clerk slept in the vestry, as 
was a not unusual practice.

There is no evidence bu t it is probable th a t the building was erected when the chancel 
was rebuilt and was pulled down a t the Reform ation.

There had always been a rood, with, perhaps, the usual attendant figures o f St. Mary 
and St. John, over the chancel arch, and a screen below, with door in the centre, to enclose 
the chancel, but, probably in the first ha lf o f the 15th century, a new screen with a loft 
and rood over was erected.

The rood and loft were destroyed at the Reform ation, but possibly the rood screen 
was retained, for in a description o f the church in Vol. 5 o f Hughsom ’s London, 1808, 
it is said, “ a  very handsom e G othic screen separates the body [nave] from the chancel.” 
A visitor to  the church about 1865 reports tha t this screen had lately been sold!

The loft was a gallery above the screen, from 4 to  5 feet wide, which was carried 
across the nave a t the level o f the springing, or com m encem ent o f the chancel arch, as can 
be seen by the door openings on each side o f the chancel arch, now blocked up, and fitted 
with the pictures o f St. G abriel and St. M ary. Staircases in the thickness o f the wall led 
up to  these doors, bu t the lower door openings have also been built up. The loft had a 
panelled framing, about 3 feet high on both sides, the top  rail o f which, on the nave side, 
was known as the candle beam and carried the candles lighted before the rood. The 
purposes o f the loft were various. It provided a position for the organ, a very small 
instrum ent in those days; it was also used for a small choir which sang “ pricksong” or 
harm onized music, while the choir below sang plainsong. It was a convenient arrangem ent 
for attending to the lights on the candle beam, and it was also used for raising, lowering, 
and storing the large and heavy curtain  which hung before the rood during Lent. But, 
contrary  to  the com m on idea, it was never used, in a non-collegiate parish church, for 
reading the epistle and gospel.

T he rood itself, and its a ttendant figures, were carried on a beam next to the chancel 
wall, as such height as to  enable it to  be seen by the congregation in the nave.

Often over the rood, as over the high altar, there was a canopy o f  honour o f carved 
and painted  w oodwork, or the nave ro o f above the rood was specially decorated. At 
Leatherhead there appears to have been a rood canopy, for the Vestry M inutes of July 1st,
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1839, order “that the elliptic arch at the entrance to the chancel be removed, the expense 
thereof not to exceed £5.”*

LEA THERHEAD C H U R CH
View from the chancel to the nave, showing the elliptical arch inserted within the chancel arch in 1702, 
which was removed in 1839. W ater-colour by Edward Hassell, dated 1829, in the Stonehill collection,

Leatherhead Branch, Surrey County Library.

It would appear that new oak screens were provided in the second half of the 15th 
century for the north transept, because at the Minet Library, with the drawing of the 
sedilia, previously mentioned, are beautiful small-scale drawings of these screens, with 
larger scale details of their tracery.

Two of these screens fit the openings from the north transept to the aisle, and to the 
chancel. These two screens were of the same period, but differ in the design of the tracery. 
The lower portion of the screens was solid panelling, and the upper part open framing 
with tracery heads and some carved leaves, surmounted with a moulded and embattled 
cornice. The screen to the aisle had a pair of folding doors to match the sides, but the

*Mr. G. H. Smith was mistaken in assuming that the elliptic arch removed in 1839 was the rood canopy. This 
elliptic arch is shown in the water-colour by Edward Hassell reproduced above. It was inserted w ith in  the 
chancel arch (possibly as a strengthener) in 1702. See note 21 by William Cotton on page 30 of Miss Mary 
Drinkwater-Bethune’s poem T h e  R iver M o le  or E m lyn  S tre a m , 1839. F. B. BENGER.
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lower part o f the screen had been altered at a later date. The screen between the transept 
and the chancel had also been altered and its doors removed, the opening having been 
widened and an ordinary architrave fixed round the opening. These alterations are p rob­
ably the result o f the Vestry M inute o f July 16th, 1758, which “ ordered that the partition 
between M r. G ore’s and  the middle chancel be boarded, and a door put up for the more 
convenience o f the Parishioners” . The door mentioned was an entrance door cut in the 
north wall o f the transept, which is shown in a picture in the Sharp Collection o f Photo­
graphs o f W ater C olour D rawings in the G uildford Museum.

Brayley and Britton, when writing their Topographical H istory o f  Surrey (1841), 
evidently saw these screens for they say: “ The front o f the north  transept, in which was 
the chantry o f the Aperdeles, and wherein is still the gallery appropriated  to the M ansion 
in Leatherhead, is, in part, panelled with carved wainscoting; and on the entrance-door, 
in golden letters, is this sentence— ‘H anc cantariam  fundav’ Rogeri’ de Aperdele, A .D. 
1340’ ; which was inscribed during the repairs made under the direction o f Mr. Dallaway.”

The present w riter has been unable to ascertain who was responsible for the w anton 
destruction o f these beautiful specimens o f medieval a rt and craftsm anship, but they were 
destroyed between 1834, when the Rev. Jam es Dallaway, the Vicar, died, and 1866, when 
the w riter o f an  article on “ The Church o f Leatherhead in 1866” (S .A .C ., Vol. XIX, p. 204) 
says, “ The screens rem ained in their p roper place till lately, when the central one was 
sold, and the o ther portion  carried to  the west, and glazed, to keep off the draughts.” It 
is clear th a t this w riter had no knowledge o f the form er existence o f these transept screens, 
for o f the two screens he m entions one was the rood screen, and the other the screen to 
be described directly.

N o inform ation, whatever, has been obtained about the screens to  the south transept.
The th ird  screen shown on the M inet drawing, which was moved to the west, is 

o f a very different character to  the others. It is plain, w ithout carving and with very inferior 
tracery. It has a cornice about 16 feet long, but the screen itself is only about 12 feet 
6 inches long, the rem ainder being an opening a t one end over which the cornice was 
carried. W here this screen was originally placed is a mystery. It is too  long for the opening 
from the south transept to the chancel, in fact the only possible place in the church that 
its length fits is the alm ost incredible position o f across the chancel to the east o f the 
transepts. In 1723 the Vestry m inute states tha t “ It is agreed by the parishioners tha t a 
pew be given by Sir Jam es W ishart to  the parish o f Leathered be sett up against the 
East W indow in the Chancel a tt ye parish C harge” . It is possible, therefore, that this 
screen form ed the front o f the W ishart pew, and it m ust have been in position when the 
M inet draw ing was made. This screen was afterw ard removed to the west end o f the 
nave and fixed between the piers o f the tow er arch. It now lies in the loft over the choir 
Vestry.

D uring the 15th century the present east window of the north transept was substituted 
for the original and a similar window inserted in the north wall, which was destroyed 
when the wall was removed in 1873 for building the Clergy Vestry and organ loft.

A bout 1480 the west tow er was erected. Owing to the existence o f a right of way 
inside the churchyard, and the necessity o f preserving sufficient room  on consecrated 
ground for external processions, the axis o f the tow er is considerably out of alignment 
w ith th a t o f the nave which causes the east wall o f the tow er to encroach on the original 
nave. The north  east buttress o f the tow er encloses p a rt o f the west arch o f the south 
arcade and the settlem ent o f the tow er has necessitated rebuilding the arch in a different 
shape to  the others.

There was a tall spire on the top  o f the tow er when first erected, bu t this was blown 
dow n in the great storm  o f N ovem ber 27th, 1703, when 27 people were killed, in London 
alone, by falling chimneys, and  many other church spires fell.
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The tow er has been suffered, on m ore than  one occasion, to fall into a considerable 
state o f dilapidation, so much so tha t in 1775 the vestry directed it to be repaired with 
stucco! And in 1795 the west door was widened to  adm it the parish fire-engine, which 
was kept in the tower.

The present appearance of the tow er is due to the design o f Sir A. Blomfield, who 
carried out the restoration in 1895 as a memorial to Mr. A. Rickards, and differs in some 
details from that shown on old drawings.

The inside o f the tow er was evidently used by the parish clerk as a schoolroom  in 
17th and 18th centuries, as indicated by the initials and  o ther m arks cut in the stonew ork 
near the very pleasing doorway to the stairs.

In the north wall o f the tow er, above the door to  the stairs, is a gallery, originally 
formed when the tow er was built, for the accom m odation o f a choir o f seven boys, who 
sang the anthem  “ All glory, laud, and honour” when the Palm  Sunday procession entered 
the church by the west door. The oak vaulting which carried the projecting panelled front 
of the gallery has long since disappeared, and the purpose o f the recess has been wrongly 
described as a  “ ringing gallery” , a use for which, however convenient for a chim ing appa­
ratus, it would be ill adapted, and quite impossible, for change ringing. Very few o f these 
galleries were ever built in parish churches, and these are chiefly in Som ersetshire and the 
West o f England; the general custom , as shown by churchw arden’s accounts, was to 
erect a special scaffold for the choir each year.

A bout the same tim e as the tow er was built, the north aisle was extended to the west, 
but w ithout forming an opening to  the nave.

The porch was built either when the aisle was extended or early in the 16th century, 
but its doorway into the church was widened in 1891.

The doorw ay in the south  aisle, now blocked up, may date about the end o f the 
15th century.

The octagonal font, now a t the west end o f the north  aisle, was made about 1490, 
and, no doubt, its original position was in the west end o f the nave, but it was afterw ards 
removed to near the chancel steps, where it is shown on a photograph taken about 1862. 
It was removed to its present site in 1891. The original cover to the font has been destroyed, 
as has also the cover ordered by the Vestry to  be made in 1696.

By the end o f the 15th century most, if  not all, the windows would be filled with 
stained glass, but o f this no trace remains. The destruction o f the windows is probably 
not so much due to the R eform ation, as to  the Puritans, for a w riter tow ards the end o f 
the 16th century explains that the glass images were suffered to  rem ain “ for want of 
sufficient store o f new stuff and by reason o f extrem e charge th a t they should grow by 
the alterations o f the same into white panes.”

The window near the font contains some scraps o f 13th to  16th century glass, collected 
from various sources by a form er Vicar, Jam es Dallaway. These pieces, together w ith any 
odd scrap of coloured glass, were leaded up by Dallaway, as acquired, and inserted in the 
east window o f the chancel. This was removed to make way for the present window, a 
memorial to Archdeacon U tterton. Dallaway also procured some 18th century French 
glass from R ouen which he fixed in the west window o f the south  transept. This was 
removed for the window in mem ory o f Bishop U tterton , and the discarded glass from both 
windows stored in the loft over the choir vestry and forgotten. The French glass was 
given to the Victoria & Albert M useum, it being quite unsuitable for a church window, 
being too macabre.
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